IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 68140

Electronically Filed Oct 05 2015 01:09 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Appeal from a Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Court Judge

District Court Case No. C228755

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

James A. Oronoz, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 6769
Oronoz & Ericsson, LLC
700 South Third Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: (702) 878-2889
Facsimile: (702) 522-1542
jim@oronozlawyers.com
Attorney for Norman Flowers

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The District Court appointed James A. Oronoz, Esq. to represent Flowers in his post-conviction proceedings. On October 9, 2012, Flowers filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). On October 30, 2012, the State filed its Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On November 14, 2012, Flowers filed Defendant's Opposition to State's Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). On January 17, 2013, the District Court determined that Flowers demonstrated good cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural time bar for filing his Petition eleven (11) days after the one-year deadline. The District Court then set a briefing schedule to supplement Flowers' Petition. On July 7, 2014, Flowers filed his Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). On August 25, 2014, the State filed State's Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On November 10, 2014, Flowers filed his Reply to State's Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On April 29, 2015, the parties argued the Petition and Supplemental Petition, and the District Court denied Flowers' Petition. On May 28, 2015, the District Court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. On

1

1

3

2

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

__

23

24

June 3, 2015, Flowers filed his timely Notice of Appeal in this matter. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 34.575.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the district court's denial of Flowers' Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).

III. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17, this case will be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue is whether the District Court erred in denying Flowers' Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), or in the alternative, in denying Flowers an evidentiary hearing to determine the merits of his claims.

V. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. PRE-TRIAL

On December 13, 2006, the State charged Flowers by way of Indictment with the following: one count of burglary, one count of robbery, one count of first degree murder, and one count of sexual assault. AA0084. The charges listed the

victim as Sheila Quarles. AA0084. On January 11, 2007, the State filed a notice of its intent to seek the death penalty. AA0115.

On December 26, 2006, the State filed a motion to consolidate the instant case with the case in <u>State v. Flowers</u>, Dist. Ct. No. C216032. AA0091. In that case, the State named Marilee Coote and Rena Gonzales as the victims. <u>Id</u>. The State filed a similar motion in case no. C216032. On January 2, 2007, the Defense filed an Opposition to the Motion in the instant case. AA0104. At a hearing on April 13, 2007, the State informed the District Court that Judge Bonaventure had denied the motion to consolidate in C216032. AA0149. The District Court judge, at that time Judge Mosley, expressed a desire to consolidate the cases and asked that the matter be heard before Judge Villani, who was to receive case C216032 following Judge Bonaventure's retirement. AA0149-AA0152.

On January 23, 2007, the Defense filed a Motion in Limine to Preclude Evidence of Other Bad Acts, seeking to exclude admission of the facts of the Coote and Gonzales case. AA0120. The State filed an opposition to the Motion on February 2, 2007. AA0132. On November 5, 2007, the State filed a Motion for Clarification of the Court's Ruling, seeking guidance on whether Judge Mosley's comments from the April 13, 2007 hearing had constituted a ruling permitting the State to affirmatively move to admit in the instant case evidence of Flowers' potential bad acts arising from case C216032. AA0153. The Defense filed an

Opposition to that Motion on November 6, 2007. AA0165. Judge Bell conducted a hearing on the matter on November 15, 2007, wherein he ordered that a Petrocelli hearing be conducted to determine the admissibility of the bad acts evidence. AA0170. The Petrocelli hearing occurred on August 1, 2008. AA0185. Therein, the District Court ruled that evidence pertaining to Flowers' possible involvement in the death of Marilee Coote was admissible in the instant case, but that evidence with respect to the Rena Gonzales investigation was not. AA0236.

The District Court directed that the State could present evidence from the Coote case only to demonstrate the similarities between the two cases. The District Court allowed the testimony from the nurse and coroner/medical examiner concerning the manner of Coote's death, the nature of her injuries, and the DNA evidence from the Coote case. AA0236.

On September 29, 2008, the Defense filed a Motion to Reconsider the District Court's ruling on its Motion in Limine. AA0243. While the District Court denied this motion, it provided that the Defense be allowed to enter a continuing objection to the bad acts evidence. The District Court further ruled that the Defense was entitled to cautionary instructions with respect to the bad acts evidence and to a relevant jury instruction at the time the case was submitted to the jury. This limiting instruction at trial took the form of an admonishment to the jury that the bad act testimony only be considered contingent upon a finding that

the acts had been proven by clear and convincing evidence. AA0787. The District Court further admonished the jury to consider the evidence only for the purposes of determining identity, intent, motive, and absence of mistake or accident.

On July 30, 2008, several months before trial, the Defense filed a bench brief with the District Court detailing the facts of the Coote and Gonzales investigations. AA0174. The brief further argued that admission of the evidence from either of those cases constituted a de facto joinder solely for the purposes of creating emotional, prejudicial impact. AA0174.

B. TRIAL

Trial commenced on October 15, 2008. After five days of trial, the Court submitted the case to the jury. The jury returned its verdict finding Flowers guilty of first-degree murder, guilty of sexual assault, and guilty of burglary, and not guilty of robbery. AA0809, AA0972. During the subsequent penalty phase, the jury returned special verdicts for mitigating circumstances and imposed a verdict of life without the possibility of parole rather than death. AA0970.

On October 30, 2008, following the entry of verdict, the Defense filed a Motion for a New Trial. AA0975 The Motion cited as grounds for a new trial the District Court's rulings allowing admission of the bad acts evidence from case C216032 and allowing admission of certain portions of Flowers' statements to

police. AA0975 The State filed an Opposition on November 10, 2008. AA1023. The District Court denied the motion on November 18, 2008. AA1035.

Flowers was sentenced on January 13, 2009. AA1037. The Court sentenced Flowers to a term of forty-eight (48) months to one hundred twenty (120) months in prison for burglary, a consecutive term of life without the possibility of parole for first-degree murder, and a consecutive term of one hundred twenty (120) months to life in prison for sexual assault. AA1037. The judgment of conviction was filed on January 16, 2009. AA1044. An amended judgment of conviction was filed on February 12, 2009. AA1050.

C. DIRECT APPEAL

Flowers filed a Notice of Appeal on January 26, 2009. AA1046. Flowers filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on February 20, 2009. AA1052. On December 21, 2009, Flowers' appellate counsel filed an opening brief (AA1054) with the Nevada Supreme Court, alleging the following errors:

- 1. The District Court violated Flowers' constitutional rights by allowing the State to introduce unrelated prior bad act testimony;
- 2. The District Court violated Flowers' constitutional rights by allowing testimony to be introduced in violation of <u>Crawford v. Washington</u> and <u>Commonwealth v. Melendez-Diaz</u>;
- 3. The District Court violated Flowers' constitutional rights by allowing as evidence a statement given by Flowers to detectives following invocation of his right to remain silent and right to counsel;

- 4. The District Court violated Flowers' constitutional rights by admitting gruesome photographs from the autopsy;
- 5. The District Court violated Flowers' constitutional right to present evidence by precluding defense witness William Kinsey from testifying that the victim told him she was seeing someone named "Keith";
- 6. The prosecutor committed misconduct by commenting on Flowers' right to remain silent;
- 7. There is insufficient evidence to support Flowers' conviction; and
- 8. The judgment should be vacated based on cumulative error.

The State filed an answering brief on February 19, 2010. AA1105. The Defense filed a reply brief on May 3, 2010. AA1170. Oral argument was held before the Nevada Supreme Court on February 15, 2011. On June 13, 2011, pursuant to a plea agreement resolving case C216032, the Defense filed a motion to voluntary dismiss the appeal, which was granted. AA1191.

D. POST-CONVICTION LITIGATION

The District Court appointed James A. Oronoz, Esq., to represent Flowers on June 8, 2012, in connection with this post-conviction proceeding. On September 17, 2012, the District Court entered an Order finding good cause to extend the date for filing Flowers' Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) by thirty (30) days. AA1204. Flowers filed his Petition on October 9, 2012. AA1205.

¹ Although the State has challenged the timeliness of Flowers' Petition, the District Court found good cause to extend the time within which Flowers was to

On July 7, 2014, Flowers filed his Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). AA1293. On August 25, 2014, the State filed the State's Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). AA1328. On November 10, 2014, Flowers filed his Reply to State's Response and Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). AA1349. On April 29, 2015, the parties argued the Petition, and the District Court denied the Petition without an evidentiary hearing. AA1369. On May 28, 2015, the Court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. AA1380. On June 3, 2015, Flowers filed his Notice of Appeal. AA1389.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Around 3:00 p.m., on March 24, 2005, Debra Quarles returned to her home at 1001 North Pecos Road in Las Vegas, Nevada to find her eighteen year-old daughter Sheila "Pooka" Quarles drowned in the bathtub. AA0020-AA0029. She also discovered that her stereo was missing from the living room. <u>Id</u>.

Sheila Quarles' autopsy revealed evidence of homicide and of sexual assault. AA0038-AA0039. Doctors took DNA from inside of her vagina for

file the Petition. Despite the State's repeated challenges, the District Court entered an Order on February 26, 2013, explicitly stating that the District Court found good cause to overcome the time bar against filing an untimely Petition and consider the merits of Flowers' claims. AA1270.

analysis. <u>Id</u>. Testing of the DNA revealed two separate contributors of semen. Norman Keith Flowers was determined to be a likely contributor. AA0635. It was later conclusively determined that Sheila Quarles' neighbor, George Brass, Jr., was the second contributor. Id.

The course of the investigation revealed that Sheila Quarles maintained several sexual relationships around the time of her death. This included a relationship with a female transit driver, Qunise Toney. AA0013-AA0014. Evidence also showed that Sheila Quarles had a boyfriend, William Kinsey. AA0711-AA0712. George Brass, Jr., a neighbor, also claimed to have maintained a continuing sexual relationship with Sheila Quarles, AA0560, but Sheila Quarles' mother, Debra, could not corroborate this fact. AA0420.

Through police investigation and through testimony elicited at both the Grand Jury proceedings and at trial, evidence partially established a timeline of events during Sheila Quarles' final hours. At or around 6:30 a.m., Sheila Quarles returned to the apartment at 1001 North Pecos after spending the night with Qunise Toney. AA0423. Qunise Toney spoke with Sheila Quarles three or four more times throughout the day, by phone, with the last time being around 11:00 a.m. or 12:30 p.m., and Qunise Toney testified at trial that Sheila Quarles seemed to be in a "good mood." AA0449-AA0450. Debra Quarles, the victim's mother, also spoke with her daughter five times that day by phone, later

² Robert Lewis is also the uncle of George Brass, Jr.

Quarles last spoke with Sheila Quarles around 1:00 p.m. During that conversation, the phone went dead. When Debra tried to call back, no one answered. Id. At or around 1:35 p.m., Qunise Toney received a call from Sheila Quarles' phone, but when she answered, no one was on the line. Qunise Toney's return call went straight to voicemail. AA0452.

In the afternoon, Debra Quarles returned to the apartment complex. AA0416-AA0417. Debra Quarles estimated the time as being around "three something." Id. Robert Lewis, a neighbor² who was apparently watching out of the window, came down to help. Id. The front door to the Quarles' apartment was closed but not locked, which was unusual because. Sheila Quarles habitually locked the door while home alone. Id. As described above, upon entering the apartment Debra Quarles immediately noticed that the stereo in the living room was missing. Id. She went to her bedroom and noticed that her room was "messed up." Id. She also heard the sound of water dripping in the bathroom and went to turn it off. Id.

Debra Quarles walked into the bathroom, pulled back the shower curtain, and found Sheila Quarles' body face-up in a full tub of water. AA0417. During this time, Robert Lewis had been waiting in the living room, but came to help

2
 3
 4

Debra Quarles pull Sheila out of the water. Id. At that point, Debra Quarles left the apartment to pick up her son, Ralph, who was working nearby. AA417. Robert Lewis also left the apartment, told neighbors that Sheila Quarles needed help, and someone called 911. AA0397.

When Debra returned, police and paramedics had already arrived at the apartment and were beginning their investigation. AA0417. The first officer on the scene was Officer Brian Cole, who estimated at trial that he arrived at the apartment at or around 2:50 p.m. AA0393. He found Sheila's body lying on the floor and secured the scene. AA0394. Debra provided the officers the following information: the pillow cases were missing from the pillows in her bedroom, Sheila's bank card and cellular phone were missing, jewelry and CDs were missing, and, as mentioned before, the stereo that had been in the living room was missing. AA0418. She also supplied the name of Qunise Toney as the only person she could imagine who could have been involved in Sheila's death. AA0418.

Several other people spoke with police officers at the scene. Qunise Toney, who had been told about Sheila's death, arrived at the apartment and spoke to the police. AA0450. George Brass, Jr., who also had been told of Sheila's death, arrived at the apartment and spoke briefly with an officer. AA0562. Brass did

not mention anything to the officer about having been inside the apartment earlier that day or about having sex with Sheila earlier that day. Id.; AA0440.

Homicide Detective James Vaccaro responded to the scene as the homicide supervisor. AA0429. He concluded that there was no sign of forced entry into the apartment. AA0430. He discovered Sheila's clothing underneath where her body had been lying in the bathroom. AA0434. Her underwear had apparently been placed on the outside of the jeans and backwards. Id. As described above, analysts eventually discovered DNA from two male sources on Sheila's underwear collected at the crime scene. AA0635. At trial, Vaccaro agreed that "women can have sex with people consensually and later get murdered and there is not necessarily a sexual component to the homicide." AA0443.

Crime scene analysts collected twenty-one (21) samples for fingerprint analysis and found fingerprints on nine (9) of those samples. AA0459. They did not attempt to take any prints off of Sheila's body. AA0435-AA0436. Not a single fingerprint from Norman Flowers was found in the apartment. AA0460.

Police never recovered the items that were missing from the apartment, including the stereo or Sheila's bankcard. AA0558; AA0595. While Sheila's cellular phone was not recovered, officers were able to obtain phone records for her phone number. AA0557. The last calls recorded were an outgoing call to

7

11

1213

14

15

16

17 18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Qunise's number around 1:35 p.m. and a similar incoming call just prior to Qunise's call. Id.

Further police investigation and testimony at trial placed several people around the Quarles' apartment the day of Sheila's murder. Robert Lewis, George Brass. Jr.'s uncle, testified that he had seen Brass at the apartment complex around lunch time the day Sheila was killed. AA0427. He estimated the time as being around 11:20 or 11:30 a.m. Id. According to George Brass' testimony at trial, he had been around the apartment complex only briefly in the late morning, and then had gone to work at the Wal-Mart near Craig and Martin Luther King in Las Vegas. AA0560. Brass claimed that his shift was to begin at 11:45 a.m., and he stated that he arrived at work on time or close to on time. AA0560. At trial, the State called Gabriel Ubando, an assistant manager at the Wal-Mart on Craig and Martin Luther King, who testified that the comings and goings of Wal-Mart employees are traced by badges that they carry with them, which must be swiped when leaving and returning. AA0564. According to Ubando, Wal-Mart records show that Brass clocked into work at 12:04 p.m., clocked out for lunch at 4:04 p.m., returned at 5:03 p.m., and left at 7:45. Id. The records do not reflect the time that Brass left work to return to Sheila's apartment after her death, a period in which he acknowledges he did not clock out, but he claims he

told his supervisor leaving was necessitated by the emergency at the Quarles' apartment. AA0561-AA0562.

Further, Debra told Detectives about an older man who had recently moved into the apartment complex. AA0420. She told them that he had recently been released from prison. Id. She made the investigators aware that, on one occasion about a month prior to Sheila's death, the man had knocked on the Quarles' apartment door and had asked Debra's younger daughter, Miracle, to go get Sheila. AA0420-AA0421. Debra had told the man how old Sheila was and had told him to stay away from their house. Id. After Sheila's death, she gave police the man's name, Darnell, along with a physical description. Id. Detectives Long claims to have "run . . . down" that lead and it had "turned out to be nothing." AA0596.

Robert Lewis was also known to have been hanging around the apartment the day of Sheila's death. When police responded to the scene, Lewis voluntarily gave a DNA sample and spoke with police for approximately an hour, but the police did not take a written statement. AA0546. The Defense was able to uncover evidence that Robert Lewis frequently sold items at pawnshops, including women's jewelry. AA0627. However, the jury was not allowed to hear this evidence at trial.

Lewis also testified about seeing one of his nephews, Anthony Culverson, around Sheila's apartment the day of Sheila's death AA0427. Lewis testified at trial that he had previously noticed Culverson interacting with Sheila, and that Culverson's interactions had prompted Lewis to tell him "she was a youngster, he shouldn't be trying to talk to her like that." AA0427.

Natalie Sena was also a resident of the apartment complex where the Quarles lived in March of 2005. AA0649. She told police that, on the day Sheila died, she had seen a tall, skinny man in a flannel shirt near the Quarles' apartment. AA0650. She also thought she remembered seeing George Brass, Jr., known to her as "Chicken," before and after 12:00 p.m. AA0650. She testified at trial that she had seen Brass with the other tall skinny man. Id. She also testified that, after 12:00 p.m., she had seen the tall skinny man knocking on Sheila Quarles' door or just coming out of her apartment. Id. She described his manner as "creeping." Id.

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