IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Nov 03 2015 03:23 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

NORMAN KEITH FLOWERS,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 68140

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From a Denial of Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

JAMES A. ORONOZ, ESQ.
Nevada Bar #006769
Oronoz & Ericsson, LLC
700 South Third Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 878-2889

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Post Office Box 552212
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly denied Flowers' Post-Conviction Petition as it was procedurally barred without good cause. Because no Remittitur issued, the time limit to file a Post-Conviction Petition began to run from the date of entry of this Court's order granting the Motion for Voluntary Dismissal of Flowers' Appeals, and neither the district court nor the parties were empowered to extend the one-year time frame. Also, Flowers failed to demonstrate good cause to overcome the time bar. By definition, Flowers' difficulties to obtain the file for his counsel cannot constitute an impediment external to the defense. Furthermore, even if this Court finds good cause did exist to delay Flowers' Petition and addresses the claims on the merits, Flowers failed to make an adequate showing of actual prejudice as to his three ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

First, Dr. Simms' testimony regarding Sheila's autopsy report written by Dr. Thomas Knoblock was not testimonial in nature and therefore, Dr. Simms' testimony as to anything therein did not violate Flowers' confrontation rights. Autopsy reports are the product of an official duty imposed by law, rather than a product of criminal investigation for use at trial. They are generated regardless of any request by law enforcement, and are not produced solely or even primarily for purposes of gathering evidence for a future criminal prosecution. Also, the issue of whether an autopsy report is testimonial or not has not been conclusively decided by the United States Supreme Court or by this Court, so Flowers cannot argue that the report has been determined to be testimonial. Furthermore, Dr. Simms' testimony constituted expert testimony because he is experienced and qualified to make such opinions, and his testimony was based on his independent review of the autopsy reports and photographs. Additionally, Dr. Simms worked in the same office in the same position as Dr. Knoblock, and therefore could testify to the office procedures and was subject to such cross-examination, thus his testimony did not run afoul of the Confrontation Clause.

Second, Ms. Paulette's testimony regarding Mr. Thomas Wahl's DNA Report from the Marilee Coote case was not testimonial, and therefore, her testimony as to anything therein did not violate Flowers' confrontation rights. Ms. Paulette testified about a DNA report on DNA found in the Coote case that was authored by Mr. Wahl,

a DNA analyst who formerly worked in the LVMPD forensic lab. This report, however, was not admitted into evidence as a sworn affidavit in lieu of live testimony. Ms. Paulette also did her own re-testing of the DNA evidence from the Coote case as well as the instant case. She reviewed the DNA report, testified that she agreed to its findings and described procedures, and was available and subject to cross-examination. Thus, her testimony did not run afoul of the Confrontation Clause.

Lastly, the State did not vouch for its witness, Mr. George Brass. Flowers does not specify how the testimony elicited from Detective Vaccaro was improper vouching, nor is this claim evident from a review of the record. Also, Detective Long's testimony is in no way a personal assurance by the prosecution of Mr. Brass' credibility. Further, Flowers contends that the State vouched for Mr. Brass during closing argument by indicating that he had "nothing to hide." However, the State's comment was proper because it was commenting on the evidence presented.

For each of his three claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, Flowers fails to show how his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that even if counsel was deficient in performance, he fails to show how the result of his trial would have been different if counsel had objected to this testimony. Because Flowers fails to show actual prejudice, this Court must affirm the denial of Flowers' Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING FLOWERS' PETITION AS IT WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED PURSUANT TO NRS 34.726 WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE.

Flowers' Petition, which underlies this appeal, was procedurally barred because it was untimely under NRS 34.726. The Nevada Supreme Court has emphasized that application of the procedural default rules regarding post-conviction petitions is mandatory, and neither the district court nor the parties were empowered to extend the one-year time frame in the instant case. State v. District Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 231-33 112 P.3d 1070, 1074-75 (2005); State v. Greene, 129 Nev. ___, ___, 307 P.3d 322, 326 (2013). Thus, to overcome the mandatory procedural bars, a petitioner must demonstrate both good cause and prejudice which Flowers failed to do. NRS 34.726(1).

A. Because No Remittitur Issued, the Time Limit Began to Run from the Date of Entry of the Supreme Court's Order Granting the Motion for Voluntary Dismissal; NRS 34.726 Applies Even When No Remittitur Issues.

NRS 34.726 provides that a post-conviction petition "must be filed within one year after entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within one year after this Court issues its remittitur." Where no appeal is filed, the default rule applies: a petition must be filed within one year after entry of the judgment of conviction. Where a direct appeal is filed but voluntarily dismissed, this Court does not issue a remittitur, but "the one-year time period for

filing a post-conviction petition under NRS 34.726 commences to run from date of entry of this [C]ourt's order granting the motion for voluntary dismissal." Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 595, 53 P.3d 901 (2002); NRAP 42(b).

Here, Flowers' Judgment of Conviction was entered on January 16, 2009. 5 AA 1044-45. Flowers appealed. Id. at 1046, 1052. This Court dismissed the appeal pursuant to NRAP 42(b) on September 28, 2011, noting that, in accordance with Gonzales, because no remittitur would issue, the one-year period for filing a post-conviction habeas corpus petition would run from the date of the order, or September 28, 2011. 6 AA 1239. Consequently, Flowers had until September 28, 2012 to file his post-conviction habeas petition. However, Flowers filed his Petition on October 9, 2012. Id. at 1205-20.⁴ Thus, Flowers' Petition was over the one-year time bar.

B. Flowers' Did Not Demonstrate Good Cause to Overcome the Procedural Bar.

The petitioner bears the burden to plead and prove facts that demonstrate good cause to excuse the procedural default to his petition. State v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003). "In order to demonstrate good cause, a petitioner must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from

⁴ Flowers filed his Supplemental Petition on July 7, 2014, which was within the court's set briefing schedule, but his original Petition was still untimely. 7 AA 1293. A Supplemental Petition timely filed under a briefing schedule set by the court does not save an untimely original Petition. See State v. Powell, 122 Nev. 751, 757, 138 P.3d 453, 457 (2006).

complying with the state procedural default rules.” Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (citing Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 353, 871 P.2d 944, 946 (1994)). This language contemplates that the delay in filing a petition must be caused by a circumstance not within the actual control of the defense team. “An impediment external to the defense may be demonstrated by a showing ‘that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that some interference by officials, made compliance impracticable.’” Id. (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488 (1986)).

This Court has clarified that, “appellants cannot attempt to manufacture good cause[.]” Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 526 (2003). To find good cause there must be a “substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse.” Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506; (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Excuses such as the failure of trial counsel to forward a copy of the file to a petitioner have been found not to constitute good cause. See Phelps v. Dir. Nev. Dep’t of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 660, 764 P.2d 1303, 1306 (1988), superseded by statute on other grounds as recognized in Nika v. State, 120 Nev. 600, 607, 97 P.3d 1140, 1145 (2004); Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890 P.2d 797 (1995).

Here, Flowers failed to establish good cause to overcome the NRS 34.726 time bar for several reasons. First, Flowers implied in his Petition that post-

conviction counsel's inability to secure the file from Flowers⁵ was good cause for his failure to comply with the procedural rules. 6 AA 1216. By definition, Flowers' difficulties to obtain the file from himself cannot constitute an impediment external to the defense. Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506; Hood, 111 Nev. at 338, 890 P.2d at 798. Just as counsel's failure to send a prisoner his files does not constitute good cause excusing the prisoner from filing a timely petition, nor is counsel's inability to obtain the file from his client or the prison. Hood, 111 Nev. at 338, 890 P.2d at 798. Notably, Flowers' only substantive claims appear to be ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to provide him with a complete copy of his file, and ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for informing him of his low probability of success on direct appeal. 6 AA 1205-20. However, neither of these grounds would require a copy of the State's or defense's file. Further, given that Flowers was able to supplement his initial Petition and add further claims, there is no reason why Flowers could not file a timely initial petition and his arguments failed to explain how his counsel's inability to obtain the State's file prevented him from filing a timely petition. Also, Flowers seems to imply that the parties' stipulations regarding discovery and briefing should be considered good cause. Id. But, as discussed above, the district court is required by NRS 34.810(1)(b) to apply

⁵ Post-Conviction counsel originally tried to contact the Special Public Defender's Office to get a copy of Flowers' file, but that office informed counsel that they mailed the original case file to Flowers in Ely State Prison. 6 AA 1251.

procedural bars and a stipulation by the parties cannot empower a court to disregard these statutory requirements. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. at 180, 69 P.3d at 681.

Also, the Amended Judgment of Conviction here is not good cause for the delay in filing. Sullivan v. State, 120 Nev. 537, 541, 96 P.3d 761, 764 (2004). Because the claims presented have no relation to the proceeding leading to the amendment, the Amended Judgment is not good cause. Nor, as Sullivan requires, was the amendment substantive, but rather, was clerical to reflect what actually transpired at the sentencing hearing. See 5 AA 1050-51.

Moreover, in Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 593, 590 P.3d 901, 902 (2002), this Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed only two days late, pursuant to the “clear and unambiguous” mandatory provisions of NRS 34.726(1). Gonzales reiterated the importance of filing a petition within the one-year mandate, absent a showing of “good cause” for the delay in filing. Id. Therefore, the one-year time bar is strictly construed. Here, the District Court found that Flowers’ Petition was filed within a “reasonable” time of the deadline (eleven days late). 6 AA 1291-92. However, NRS 34.726 and Gonzalez do not allow the district court to make such a finding.

On January 17, 2013, the district court issued a minute order finding that: 1) NRS 34.726 does not address instances where a pending appeal is dismissed and no remittitur is issued from this Court; 2) even assuming NRS 34.726 applied, there

was good cause to overcome the procedural bar because post-conviction counsel had been “unable to obtain a copy of his file for reasons outside of his control”; 3) the district court’s September 17, 2012 Order granting an extension created prejudice; and 4) Flowers’ filing of the petition within eleven days of the deadline was reasonable. 6 AA 1291-92. On April 29, 2015, the parties argued both the Petition and Supplemental Petition, and the district court denied Flowers’ Petition on the merits. 7 AA 1379. Despite the district court’s error in finding Flowers demonstrated good cause under NRS 34.726(1), it nonetheless properly denied Flowers’ Petition and this Court must affirm the decision on appeal. See Wyatt v. State, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 338, 341 (1970) (“If a judgment or order of a trial court reaches the right result, although it is based on an incorrect ground, the judgment or order will be affirmed on appeal.”). As discussed above, Flowers failed to establish good cause to overcome the procedural delay, and thus the district court should have denied his Petition as untimely.

II.
THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING FLOWERS’
PETITION ON THE MERITS

To the extent this Court agrees with the district court and finds good cause did exist to delay Flowers’s Petition, it must affirm the denial of his Petition because Flowers failed to make an adequate showing of actual prejudice. A finding of actual prejudice cannot happen without a finding that at least one claim in an underlying

petition has merit. The district court seemingly found that prejudice resulted from the court granting an extension of time and the impact that could have had on Flowers' ability to file a timely petition. 6 AA 1292. But actual prejudice, rather, involves the merits of Flowers' claims and requires a showing that errors of constitutional magnitude infected his trial. Mazzan v. Warden, Nev. State Prison, 112 Nev. 838, 842, 921 P.2d 920, 922 (1996); Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 327, 115 S. Ct. 851 (1995) (quoting Carrier, 477 U.S. at 496, 106 S. Ct. 2639). Because the district court made no such finding, it did not find actual prejudice existed. Also, Flowers, as discussed below, did not make the findings necessary in his Petition to establish prejudice to overcome the procedural time bar. As such, this Court must affirm the denial of Flowers' Post-Conviction Petition.

A. Defendant Received Effective Assistance from Trial Counsel

In Flowers' appeal, he claims the district court erred by not finding that trial counsel was ineffective for 1) failing to object to the testimony of Dr. Simms and Ms. Paulette claiming their testimony was in violation of Crawford v. Washington,⁶ and for 2) failing to object to the prosecution's improper vouching for the credibility of its own witnesses. OB 26, 42. However, Flowers received effective assistance of counsel.

⁶ Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004).

“A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact, subject to independent review” by this Court. Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 622, 28 P.2d 498, 508 (2001). “However, the district court’s purely factual findings regarding [claims] of ineffective assistance of counsel are entitled to deference on subsequent review by this [C]ourt.” Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 179, 87 P.3d 528, 530 (2004).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are analyzed under the two-pronged test articulated in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), wherein the defendant must show: (1) that counsel’s performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Id. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. Nevada adopted this standard in Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 683 P.2d 504 (1984). “A court may consider the two test elements in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either one.” Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1997).

“Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task.” Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 371, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010). The question is whether an attorney’s representations amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, “not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 88, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778 (2011). Further, “[e]ffective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose

assistance is “[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975) (quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 1449 (1970)).

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